1971

State of Utah v. Thomas Devon Gee : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The Defendant-Appellant, Thomas Devon Gee, appeals from his conviction of Murder in the First Degree in violation of Utah Code Ann. Sec. 76-30-1 (1953), on jury trial in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable D. Frank Wilkins, Judge, presiding, and the sentence of imprisonment at hard labor for life imposed thereon.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant was tried on a charge of first degree murder before a jury in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, Utah, with Judge D. Frank Wilkins presiding. The trial began June 19, 1970, and was concluded June 24, 1970; the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged with recommendation of leniency. The appellant filed motions to dismiss, in arrest of judgment and for a new trial, along with supporting authorities and affidavits. Upon argument to the Court, all motions were denied. Appellant was sentenced to a term of life imprisonment and appeals from the verdict and judgment. A certificate of probable cause for appeal was signed by presiding Judge D. Frank Wilkins on July 20, 1970.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks reversal of the judgment of the lower court and a dismissal of the action, or in the alternative, reversal and remand for further proceedings or for a new trial, with directions and instructions to the trial court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal presents to the Court vital questions concerning the sufficiency of evidence, corroboration of accomplices, and constitutional due process of law. Therefore, it is necessary to set forth in some detail the material facts established by each witness in the court below.

The first portion of this statement sets forth the medical evidence concerning the nature and extent of the injuries sustained by the deceased, the nature of the condition causing his death, and the medical opinions concerning the possible causes of those injuries; and the material portions of the testimony tending to show a causal connection of the defendant with those injuries is set forth in the second portion.

Marilyn Peterson brought her son Craig into the emergency room of the hospital at about 10:00 p.m. on the evening of October 5, 1969. During the initial examination the doctors observed that the child was breathing on his own and had a heartbeat, but that he was not moving and not responsive; and that there were multi-

ple discreet bruises about the face, head, and lower back and legs. (R.240) The eyes were fixed and dialated. Mrs. Peterson stated upon her arrival at the emergency room that she had left the boy briefly in the care of her boyfriend who told her that he had fallen down the stairs with the child shortly after he noticed the boy having another seizure; that Craig had swallowed his tongue. (R. 295)

The bruises on the child's head along with the condition diagnosed as papilledema suggested the existence of intercranial pressure. Craig Peterson underwent surgery until about 3:00 a.m. of October 6, 1969, and the pressure on the brain was relieved as the excess blood was drained off. Craig was kept under continuous treatment and observation until his death during the early morning hours of the following day. The cause of death was due to subdural hematoma and brain injury attributed to traumatic injury of an unspecified nature and unknown origin. (R. 299, 309)

One of the examining physicians had remembered treating the child on several previous occasions and suspected that the injuries he saw were an indication of possible child abuse.

Law enforcement officers of the Salt Lake County Sheriff's Department arrived at the hospital shortly after 10:00 p.m. October 5, 1969, and conducted an investigation. On the morning of the child's death, the appellant was arrested and charged with first degree murder.

The State at trial relied on the theory that the evidence would show premeditation and deliberation, or in the alternative a depraved mind. (R. 106)

Dr. Edward F. Wilson was called on behalf of the State and testified that he had performed an autopsy on the deceased October 7, 1969. He was the assistant medical examiner for Utah and was a specialist in forensic pathology, which is the study of injury and disease as it relates to legal questions. His experience included approximately 1,300 autopsies to determine cause of death, and he had testified and been qualified in a number of courts as a medical expert.

He explained that subdural hematoma occurs when something strikes the head causing the brain to move at a little different rate than the skull and thus causing bleeding when the blood vessels connecting the brain to the skull

stretch and tear. (R. 310) He stated that in this case it was difficult to say whether the trauma was due to the head striking an immobile object, or whether it was struck by a movable object. The trauma, in his opinion was caused by a dull blow. Although there was some evidence of multiple blows, the hematoma could have come from many, or could have just come from one. (R. 310) His conclusions in this regard were essentially the same ones reached by the treating and examining physicians.

Dr. R. Chad Halversen and Dr. Theodore S. Roberts treated Craig's injuries shortly after he arrived in the emergency room of the University of Utah Medical Center. Both were employed there as residents in neurosurgery, and both were involved in the surgery described as burr holes, which relieved the pressure on the brain. (R. 244, 299) In similar terms these physicians described the nature of the hematoma, and discussed their observations of the head injuries. (R. 240-245) (R. 299-302) Dr. Roberts was not able to state factually one way or another as to whether the hematoma was due to a single blow or a succession of blows, although he recalled that the condition usually appears in children following a succession of blows (R.303)

The bruises about the scalp were indicative of some force being applied to the head, but a hematoma can develop from a blow at any point; and the presence of the papilledema seemed to indicate that the brain had already been under pressure, at the time of the operation, for at least 24 hours. (R. 299-300) The injuries on each side of the head appeared to be of recent origin and about the same age, but he was unable to state with certainty whether the hematoma or the swelling to the brain occurred first in time. The damage to the left side of the brain was caused by blows, while the damage to the right side was due to swelling and inflammation. Although these injuries could have been simultaneous, it appeared unlikely. (R. 302)

Dr. Halversen added that it would take a fair trauma to cause the hematoma, and suggested that from the location of the blood clot it was possible that the fatal blow could have come across the ear, striking the child behind the ear. (R. 251) Traumatic injury means forceful injury. (R. 256) He stated that one cannot really equate the force of the blow with the rupture of intercranial blood vessels. (R. 250) But he could not say with assurance which of several apparent blows caused the condition. He did describe, however, a linear bruise that

existed across the temple, the ear, and the left mastoid process, accompanied by surrounding swelling. The bruises on the ear itself were round types, and were not, in his opinion, caused by the same object, and possibly not even at the same time. In addition he noted that there was an abrasion in the middle of the back, oozing blood, that appeared to be more recent than the bruises on the backs of the legs.(R.255-256)

Dr. Halversen further stated that he was unable to ascertain the size of the object which had apparently come in contact with the child's head, nor did he think it was medically possible to do so. He could only say that the cause of death was intercranial injury due to traumatic injuries to the head.(R. 254)

Dr. Donald K.Nicholson had been admitted to the practice of medicine for two years, and was completing his last two years of internship with the University Medical Center's Department of Pediatrics, where he held the position of the second neuro resident, (R. 258) when he had occasion to come in contact with Craig Peterson. He was present in the emergency room on October 5th along with Dr. Halversen, and assisted in the examination at that time. (R. 275) He had

treated the child on several previous occasions and discussed the possibility that Craig was an abused child with Dr. Halversen during the course of the medical consultations. (R. 249, 254) This possibility was also discussed with the police, after the fact.

The complete medical records indicated that Craig Peterson had been seen at the outpatient clinic a number of times during the year 1969, but mostly for the usual or common problems of childhood. These included some sickness, a constant diaper rash, occasional running fever and an iron deficiency anemia. (R. 283) Dr. Nicholson first saw Craig on September 8th for a routine follow-up on the anemia problem, and noted nothing unusual at that time. (R. 279)

Marilyn Peterson again brought Craig into the hospital on September 17th and Dr. Nicholson again treated the boy. He found an injury described as a very well demarcated circular burn...a deep second or possibly third degree... a nice clean burn.... there was no infection around it...and about 3 or 4 millimeters deep. (R. 259-260) He became suspicious because the burn was deep and because the mother could give him no good explanation as to how it occurred.

A second degree burn involves the outer layer of the skin and usually forms blisters, while a third degree burn is deeper and does not. He felt that the burn he saw was deep second or possibly third since he found no remnants of a blister and concluded that it was unlikely that the boy could have burned himself. (R. 259-262)

The demarcation, as well as the size and shape were similar to what he thought might be caused by an automobile cigarette lighter, and the cleanliness suggested that perhaps someone must have held something against the foot. He identified Exhibit #22 (cigarette lighter seized from defendant's car) as the kind of instrument that could cause such a clean circular burn--it appeared to be about the same size and shape. (R. 260)

Craig Peterson was hospitalized by Dr. Nicholson on September 26th after he was brought in for the treatment of several additional injuries, including blisters on the tops of the toes and bruises across the backs of the legs. (R. 262-269) Having treated the child so recently for another burn, the doctor became even more suspicious, and noted the fact in the hospital medical records.

Dr. Nicholson identified the color slide photographs depicting the blisters on the toes, the slides showing the bruises on the backs of the legs, and also the slide depicting the round burn, and discussed these pictures before the jury with reference to his observations made at the time of treatment. (R. 258)

He stated that he had arranged for these photographs because he had suspected abuse on the basis of his diagnosis and treatment of the round burn back on the 17th of September. (R. 263) He identified the bruises shown in Exhibits #4 and #9 as being similar to those he witnessed on Craig Peterson. The round burn was Exhibit #8, and the blistered toes were shown in Exhibit #3. In his opinion the blisters were most likely caused by hot water being applied to the tops of the toes. He recalled that he had examined Craig during the morning hours, probably between 9:30 a.m. and 11:00a.m...there were no blisters on the soles of the feet, and he didn't recall noticing any redness in that area either, or anything else unusual about the feet except for the prior round burn. (R. 266-270) He said that the blistered toes could be consistent with running hot water across them, as he

found no redness or blisters on the soles, and thought that water hot enough to cause the blisters on top should also have necessarily blistered the soles. (R. 266-270) Dr. Nicholson identified Exhibit #8 (the round burn), Exhibit #3 (blistered toes), Exhibit #4 (bruises on legs), and Exhibit #9 (leg bruises). These color slide photographs were shown to the jury during portions of the doctor's testimony by means of a projector and screen. Dr. Nicholson stated that these photographs were taken at the hospital after he suspected child abuse.

It was also on September 26th that Marilyn Peterson told Dr. Nicholson about Craig suffering another fit or breathing spell that morning, and she described his symptoms. Craig would hold his breath, pass out, turn blue and swallow his tongue. He had been having fits or tantrums in the past, but this was the worst one yet. Dr. Nicholson decided to keep the boy in the hospital for a few days for observation and that Craig was released about October 1st. The last time he saw Craig was when Craig was in the emergency room on the evening of October 5th and his testimony concerning the appearance of the child at that time was similar to that of the other doctors and included his identifica-

tion of Exhibit #1 and Exhibit #2. (R. 275)

This doctor expressed the opinion that a physician may have reason to suspect an abused child if there are repeated small injuries or even a single incident where the explanation offered by the person bringing the child in for treatment is very poor, non-existent or one which seems nearly inconceivable when compared to the observed injuries. (R. 277) Dr. Halver-son generally agreed, although he described child abuse as involving multiple injuries of the kind not ordinarily sustained in day to day living, and noted that a child can be considered abused due to symptoms of neglect as well as by trauma, although usually traumatic injury is a part of it. (R. 252)

Dr. Wilson stated that a battered child involves a non-accidental physical injury to a minor of severe degree, occasionally resulting in fatality inflicted by the people responsible for the care of the child (R. 214)

According to Dr. Nicholson, the combina-tion of observed trauma along with the medical history is most significant, and he admitted that it is very difficult to explain abuse with-out a very clear and known medical history.

He admitted that during the preceding year he had seen over 600 children, had treated them, and was aware of only four or five cases of abuse, and these were based in large part on a known medical history. (R. 278)

He testified that when Marilyn brought Craig in on the 26th, she first told him that the toe blisters were probably caused by shoes which were too tight. After he questioned her more about it, she then told him that maybe the bath water was too warm that morning. She said that the child had been sick and holding his breath and swallowing his tongue and told him more about the onset of the seizures. (R. 291-294)

The only conversation he recalled that concerned the defendant was that he remembered her telling one time that her boy friend seemed to be pretty good to the child, but he couldn't recall any other statements. He noted these remarks in the medical records. (R. 293)

Dr. Nicholson testified on cross-examination that when he diagnosed the possible cause of the round burn, he was unaware that the child had been treated several days previously for it, and admitted that at that time he had not taken occasion to examine the complete medical

records. His opinion then was that the burn he saw could not possibly have been an older burn--if the child had stepped on something and then jumped off right away, there would possibly have been a first degree burn or possibly a blister. He answered that he would be unable to tell anything at all if he had seen a burn described as being dark, crusted over, and smaller--that it could be caused by stepping on a cigarette or something else hot--it was quite possible. But he saw a burn that was very round and clean.

(R. 285-286)

Deputy Sheriff John W. Malmborg testified that he was the officer in charge of the investigation and examination of the premises located at 6450 South 13th East at about 3:00 a.m. on October 6, 1969. Deputy Gunnarson testified that Exhibit #10 was the diagram of the scene prepared at that time--that he took measurements.

(R. 110) Deputy Hadfield testified that he was stationed in front of the house from 12:05 a.m. until 2:58 a.m. of the same morning, and that nobody went in or out until Marilyn and the other deputies arrived, when he left. (R. 202)

Deputy Malmborg identified Exhibits Nos. 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, and 19--photographs of the scene taken that same morning after

his arrival there around 3:00 a.m. (R. 122-23) He questioned Marilyn at the hospital, after he talked to the doctors, and questioned her again at the house, while other deputies were completing the photography.

Marilyn Peterson testified that earlier in the evening, around 7 o'clock, they arrived at his brother Allen's apartment where they met the defendant's mother and step-father, who helped them tow the defendant's old car from his father's house out to the house on 13th East. Craig was with Marilyn, asleep on the front seat of the defendant's car. (R. 147) When they got out to the house, she put Craig up in his crib, but did not undress him. They all talked for a while, and as they were leaving, she left to go to a nearby store for some more milk; she remembered that they pulled out of the driveway right behind her. (R. 149) Craig was wearing blue coveralls that night, and still had a bandage on one foot. (R. 148)

She related that she was at the store for about 15 minutes. When she returned home, she found the defendant standing on the back porch holding Craig--he had his hands under his arms and was holding him out at arms length; Craig was wearing only a T-shirt. (R. 150)

Craig was limp and unconscious, and there was a large scrape on his back. She said that the defendant told her that Craig had taken another convulsion, so she sent him down to the nearby fire station for the ambulance, while she took Craig back inside and tried to revive him. Two firemen and the ambulance came, and took her along with Craig to the hospital, arriving there around 10:00. (R. 150) She recalled that Dr. Nicholson was called to the emergency room.

When she returned to the house, along with officer Malmborg and a couple of deputies, she found Craig's clothes on the floor upstairs and a diaper on the kitchen floor. (R. 155) She testified that the defendant had never undressed Craig before. They asked her about the scrape on the back, and she told them that the defendant said "I guess he got that when I fell down the stairs with him." (R. 152-153)

October 5th was a Sunday, and Craig had been very quiet all that day. The defendant, Marilyn and Craig, had spent the afternoon finding things for the deer hunt, and had returned for dinner around 5 o'clock before leaving again to go over to his brother's apartment. (R. 144) Marilyn had had Craig home for the hospital about a week, she remembered, and had to hold him most of the time. (R. 200)

Marilyn testified that Craig had some round bruises about his ears, mainly in front of them, but said that they had been there for a couple of days prior to the 5th of October. She also identified Exhibits #1 and #2 as her little boy after the surgery. She noticed that there were some additional injuries depicted that weren't there before, including the surgeon's incisions. (R. 144) (R. 196) She pointed out some injury inside the ear, and said that Craig had never had any prior ear trouble.

She identified the slides depicting the toe blisters, and said that these occurred one morning in late September; Craig had been sick and had thrown up in the crib and made a mess, and the defendant took him down to clean him up, and shortly thereafter she heard him cry and went down herself to check the water and found that it was too hot for Craig when she put her hand in it. Although there were no burns then, the feet were really red, and they started to blister about 20 minutes later. (R. 139)

It was about a week before this that Craig got the bruises on the legs; the same day she moved out to 13th East with Margie she went to the store for a short time, leaving the defendant with Craig and Margie's kids, and returned to find Craig with a scrape on his head from the

stripping on the steps, and the next morning she discovered bruises she described as being "fairly large sized, wide, and fairly far apart. (R. 135-137) Marilyn testified that the defendant told her that Craig had been playing on the stairs with Margie's kid, and had fallen.

There was also the time in the middle of September when Craig hurt his mouth. He had been with the defendant while driving to a nearby gas station and back to Ed Webb's place; and that the defendant told them that a little boy darted into the road, and when he applied the brakes Craig hit the dashboard. There was a tooth loose and bleeding badly, so Ed pulled it out. (R. 139)

When she first saw the round burn it appeared to her as a "round blister, burn", and it appeared as shown in Exhibit #8 about a week later. It occurred on a Sunday during the middle of September, perhaps the 21st. She had it treated at the hospital that evening, cleaned and a bandage applied, and returned a few days later for further checking or treatment. Marilyn testified that while she was apartment hunting, with the defendant driving her around, she was gone from the car for about 10 minutes, at a gas station, early in the afternoon. (R. 129-132) She said the boy was subject to seizures and tantrums,

with the worst of these being on the morning of the blistered toes, and again on the evening of October 5th; she described the symptoms --he would start shaking, turn blue or black, shut his eyes, tighten up, hold his breath, and then swallow his tongue--and she had no idea of the cause. They were worse than the tantrums, and she was upset by them--several times she had to pry his tongue out of the mouth with a spoon. (R. 186-181) She said that she never hit the boy on the head, but admitted that once Margie told her not to paddle Craig so hard, but he had just wet all over a new couch. (R. 189)

Maxine Crowder described the round burn as having dry skin like a popped blister, crusty around the edges, and didn't look fresh that day when she first discovered it. She described Craig as a "good little boy--he never cried and never had a seizure", and that she used to take care of Craig quite a bit. (R. 203, 205-206)

Edward R. Webb testified that Craig had been with defendant at gas station, but nothing was wrong then; defendant fell behind on way back, and the last time he saw Craig, the child was standing up in the car. The route passed a school, and Craig's mouth was bloody, and he pulled a tooth out. (R.206-209)

Shirley Peterson, Craig's grandmother, said that she had him the Saturday before the round burn was discovered, and didn't notice anything, although she bathed him. (R. 315)

Margie Williams testified that she had known Marilyn for two years and they lived together at 13th South for a while (R. 317); she had been to Provo for a schizo personality which she couldn't describe; she was present when the toes were burned, and accompanied Marilyn to the hospital; (R. 319) (R. 327-28) said that on the night of the fatal injuries she was watching through the window of the kitchen and saw the defendant carry Craig down the stairs by his ears, after which, she just left. (R. 325-326) She talked to some relatives and returned some of defendant's things but didn't make any statements exculpatory of him. (R. 330-332) She was recalled after defense motion to dismiss was denied, and added that she had a conversation with the defendant, and added some details respecting the manner he held the ears. (R. 323-327)

The defense witnesses generally testified that on the evening of October 5th the defendant had been treating Craig Peterson very carefully; that they had some conversations with Margie Williams where she told them that Marilyn was

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