1970

State of Utah v. Thomas Devon Gee : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE CONVICTION OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER.

The record clearly indicates that the appellant inflicted numerous injuries upon deceased within a very short time span of several weeks. In addition, testimony at trial by Margie Williams, testimony believed by the jury, very adequately indicates a deliberate and intentional malice on the part of appellant in inflicting very serious injuries on the deceased. The eye-witness testimony coupled with the prior infliction of serious injury can reasonably indicate premeditation and malice aforethought on the part of appellant.

Margie Williams testified as follows:

"DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BANKS:

Q. Now, with reference to the night that the baby was taken to the hospital, when you walked around to the window, did you tell us everything that you saw or heard that night?

A. No.

Q. And can you tell us why you did not tell us everything?

A. Because my kids have been threatened.

Q. By whom?

A. Devon.

Q. And when did he threaten your children?

A. That night.

Q. All right. From the time you parked the car tell us again what you did?

A. I knocked on the back door and I couldn't get any answer, and I heard Craig crying,

'Don't, it hurts.' And so I went around to the side window thinking no one was there, that they had left him alone. At that time Devon was coming down the stairs holding the child's ears. When he came down the stairs, he slapped him across the face, and then took his head and hit him against the stair railing.

Q. What occurred after that?

A. I tried to get his attention. I knocked on the window. I thought that I was going to break it, and he seen me. He finally seen me. He told me if I said anything, he would kill my kids.

Q. And what did you do then?

A. I went home."
(R. 323-324)

§76-30-2, *Utah Code Ann.* (1953) sets forth the definition of malice that is required for the crime of murder. It states:

"Such malice may be express or implied. It is express when there is manifested a deliberate intention unlawfully to take the life of a fellow creature. *It is implied when no considerable provocation appears, or when the circumstances attending the killing show an abandoned and malignant heart.*" (Emphasis added)

The evidence in this case clearly shows, from the severity and nature of the injuries inflicted, that the requisite intent and malice was present in the mind of appellant.

To constitute the crime of First Degree Murder a showing of of "wilful, deliberate, malicious and pre-meditated" killing is necessary. (§76-30-3, *Utah Code Ann.* (1953). The claim by appellant that no such showing was made by the evidence is without merit. Only enough time to reflect and consider the matter is required. See *State v. Warwick*, 11 U.2d 116, 355 P.2d 703 (1960), *State v. Schad*, 24 U.2d 255, 470 P.2d 246 (1970), and *State v. Neal*, 123 Utah 93, 254 P.2d 1053 (1953).

Further, the infliction of great bodily harm upon the person of the deceased child can reasonably be calculated to result in the death of the child. The testimony of Margie Williams, cited supra, abundantly indicates appellant's wilful and deliberate infliction of great bodily harm on the deceased. See *State v. Russell*, 106 Utah 116, 145 P. 2d 1003 (1944).

Appellant further argues that this is not a proper case for application of §76-30-3, *Utah Code Ann.* (1953) wherein it states:

". . . or perpetrated by any act greatly dangerous to the lives of others and evidencing a depraved mind, regardless of human life; . . ."

Admittedly, the usual application of this provision involves the situation where one perpetrates an act greatly dangerous to the lives of others, indiscriminately. However, where the act evidences a depraved mind and commission of an act greatly dangerous to the person of another, as in the instant case, provision should be made for such conduct to fall within the statute. Specifically, in the

Schad case, supra, this court affirmed a second degree felony murder conviction where the deceased died from a tightly bound neck while performing a mutual act of sodomy. The court said:

“It is so obvious as not to require elucidation that the act of sodomy committed in the manner shown here, with the deceased so bound that he choked to death, was an act *greatly dangerous to the lives of others and evidencing a depraved mind, regardless of human life.*” (Emphasis added.)

Thus, sufficient evidence was presented at trial to show that appellant wilfully and intentionally inflicted great bodily harm upon the infant deceased, which injury was reasonably calculated to cause death and that appellant evidenced a depraved mind in committing such injuries.

POINT II

APPELLANT WAS IN NO WAY PREJUDICED AT TRIAL BY THE ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF COLORED PHOTOGRAPHS OF DECEASED.

A quick look at the photographs admitted into evidence sufficiently indicates that there was no prejudice nor inflammatory value derived therefrom.

In the first instance, admission of photographs into evidence is properly within the sound discretion of the trial court and the reviewing court should only interfere when manifest error is shown. In *State v. Renzo*, 21 U.2d 205, 443 P. 2d 392 (1968), this court stated at 399:

“The fact that a picture may be gruesome is no reason for excluding it from evidence if it is otherwise competent and relevant. It is a matter of discretion with the trial judge to determine whether the probative value of the picture outweighs the possible adverse effect which might be produced upon being shown to the jury. 23 C.J.S. Criminal Law §852 (1)c. This discretion on the part of a trial judge to admit or reject evidence should not be interfered with by an appellate court unless manifest error is shown.”

See also *State v. Johnson*, 25 Utah 2d 46, 475 P. 2d 543 1970; *State v. Jackson*, 22 Utah 2d 408, 454 P.2d 290 (1969); and *State v. Poe*, 21 Utah 2d 113, 441 P. 2d 512 (1968).

Clearly, a proper determination of the elements of the crime had to be decided by the jury.

The admission of photographs of the deceased's injuries gave probative value to the other testimony and evidence presented at trial. No inflammatory nor gruesome nature attended the photographs. Respondent submits, therefore, that no err be assigned for the reason that these photographs were admitted into evidence.

POINT III

NO ADDITIONAL CORROBORATING EVIDENCE WAS REQUIRED TO CONVICT APPELLANT AND THE STATE WITNESSES, MARILYN PETERSON AND MARGIE WILLIAMS, WERE NOT ACCOMPLICES.

A review of the record manifestly shows that Marilyn Peterson, the deceased's mother, was never in the presence

of the child when the injuries were inflicted. Moreover, each time an injury was brought to her attention, she made almost immediate arrangements to have the child treated by competent medical help at a hospital. Certainly this conduct is not that of an accomplice to the crime of murder.

Appellant fails to point out specific conduct that would qualify either Marilyn Peterson or Margie Williams as accomplices and therefore subject them to treatment as principals in the crime of murder as §76-1-44, *Utah Code Ann.* (1953) would require.

On October 5, 1969, the date of the fatal injuries, appellant was solely in the care of deceased.

Neither Marilyn Peterson nor Margie Williams have in any way been shown to "aid and abet" or to "have advised and encouraged" the commission of the fatal injuries upon Craig Peterson.

Respondent submits, then, that since the state's witnesses are not in fact, or in law, accomplices, that no corroborating evidence is required to prove the guilt of appellant.

POINT IV

A JUROR MAY NOT IMPEACH HIS OWN VERDICT AND THERE IS NO SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO SHOW THAT THE JURY CONDUCT WAS IN FACT IMPROPER AND PREJUDICIAL.

It is the law of this jurisdiction that a juror may not

impeach his own verdict. *State v. Priestly*, 97 Utah 158, 91 P. 2d 447 (1939) and *State v. Rivenburgh*, 11 Utah 2d 95, 355 P. 2d 689 (1960).

In the *Priestly case*, all eight of the jurors signed affidavits to the effect that the verdict of guilty was a compromise in that no agreement was reached until all jurors agreed to recommend leniency, thereby believing that a fine instead of a prison sentence would be imposed on defendant.

The court affirmed the conviction and stated at 449:

“It is the settled law in this jurisdiction that jurors cannot impeach their verdict except in the instances expressly made exceptions by legislative enactment.”

For cases holding a juror may not impeach his own verdict in circumstances similar to the facts in the instant case see, *State v. Bedwell*, 77 Idaho 57, 286 P.2d 641 (1955), and *State v. Hockett*, 172 Kansas 1, 238 P.2d 539 (1952).

The applicable statutory grounds for a new trial are enumerated in § 77-38-3, *Utah Code Ann.* (1953). The statute provides:

“77-38-3. Grounds—When a verdict or decision has been rendered against the defendant, the court *may*, upon his application, grant a new trial *in the following cases only*:

. . .

(3) When the jury have separated without leave of the court after retiring to deliberate upon their

verdict, or have been guilty of any misconduct by which a fair and due consideration of the cause may have been prevented.

(4) When the verdict has been determined by lot or by any means other than a fair expression of opinion on the part of all the jurors.

(5) When the court has misdirected the jury in a matter of law, or has erred in the decision of any question of law arising during the course of the trial, or has done or allowed any act in the cause prejudicial to the substantial rights of the defendant.

(6) When the verdict or decision is contrary to law or the evidence. . . ." (Emphasis added.)

Here the jury was specifically instructed to disregard defendant's failure to testify in the case. Instruction 22 provided in pertinent part:

" . . .

So, in this case the mere fact that this defendant has not availed himself of the privilege which the law gives him should not prejudice him in any way. It should not be considered as any indication either of his guilt or of his innocence. The failure of the defendant to testify is not even a circumstance against him and no presumption of guilt can be indulged in the minds of the jury by reason of such failure on his part."

Thus, the jury was adequately instructed on this matter. It should be assumed that the jury properly upheld their oath as a juror to be impartial and apply the law as the court directs.

The court in *State v. Athorn*, 46 N.J. 247, 216 A.2d 369 (1966), very ably discusses the issue before this court. It says,

“If verdicts could be easily set aside as a result of an investigation into secret jury deliberations, disappointed litigants would be encouraged to tamper with jurors, to harrass them and to employ fraudulent practices in an effort to induce them to repudiate their decisions. *Moreover, an open invitation would be extended to any disgruntled juror who might choose to destroy a verdict to which he had previously assented.*”

The secrecy surrounding jury deliberations is necessary not only to prevent the unsettling of verdicts after they have been recorded, but also as an aid to the deliberative process itself. Each juror should be encouraged to state his thoughts freely, good or bad, so that they may be weighed by the other jurors.” (Emphasis added.)

Therefore, only in the most compelling circumstances, involving the substantial rights of the defendant, should a juror be allowed to impeach his own verdict. In the instant case the testimony of the juror, Donna Johnson, is somewhat contradictory.

She states:

“BY MR. BANKS:

Q. Of course, when you say this was considered by other members of the jury, there was just conversation in the jury room, is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. So that you don't know whether or not they took this into consideration within their own minds in determining his guilt or innocence?

A. Well, I know how they—most of them talked in the jury room to each other, and—

Q. But what I mean, that it's your conclusion based on what was said, is that correct, in the jury room?

A. Yes.

MR. BANKS: That's all. Oh! one other thing.

Q. (By Mr. Banks.) Excluding your consideration of his not taking the stand, it was, was it not, that based on the other evidence that was presented, it was your conclusion that he did commit this crime?

MR. RUSSELL: I would object to the question.

THE COURT: Overruled.

MR. BANKS: Did you understand my question?

THE WITNESS: No, I'm not sure I did. Would you repeat it, please?

Q. (By Mr. Banks) All of the other evidence that was presented to the court and jury, based on that, it was your conclusion that he did commit this crime; isn't that correct?

A. Yes. To begin with—

MR. BANKS: That's all."

Thus, even taking the jurors' own testimony, the fact that defendant did not testify is not clearly the grounds for his conviction. The most that can be assumed is that

this juror, considered the issue and that the other jurors mentioned it.

Upon these facts, no error has been shown sufficient to justify a new trial or to indicate that appellant was prejudiced thereby. No error should be found and no basis is provided for a finding that the conduct falls within the legislative exceptions of §77-38-3, *Utah Code Ann.* (1953).

Furthermore, any cumulative effect of non-prejudicial error as may be found in the circumstances of the instant case would not warrant a reversal and remand for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Respondent submits, that based upon the argument and authority provided herein, this court should affirm appellant's conviction.

VERNON S. ROMNEY
Attorney General

DAVID S. YOUNG
Chief Asst. Attorney General

LARRY V. LUNT
Attorney General
Attorneys for Respondent

236 State Capitol
Salt Lake City, Utah 84114